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Mental health – restriction order – patient convicted of manslaughter relatively unlikely to reoffend – whether adequate reasons given for maintaining restriction order

Human rights – burden of proof – whether tribunal’s approach to discretion in breach of Article 5 or Article 8 of the Convention 

Tribunal practice – permission to appeal to Court of Appeal – new issue raised after decision of Upper Tribunal 
The appellant was convicted of manslaughter in 1978 and made the subject of a hospital order and a restriction order. In 1986 he was conditionally discharged, but was recalled to hospital in 1997. In 1998 he was again granted a conditional discharge. In 2008 he applied to the First-tier Tribunal for a direction that the restriction order cease to have effect. His application was supported by the mental health team but opposed by the Secretary of State for Justice. The First-tier Tribunal concluded that, although he was relatively unlikely to seriously offend again, there remained a real risk to the public and to himself from his mental disorder with an attendant risk of his recall to hospital and that it was desirable to continue the present conditions, which minimised that risk. It therefore refused to remove the restrictions as it was not satisfied that it was not appropriate for him to remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment, following R (SC) v the Mental Health Review Tribunal and the Secretary of State for Health [2005] EWHC 17 (Admin); [2005] MHLR 31 as to the correct approach to its discretion under section 75(3) of the Mental Health Act 1983. The appellant appealed to the Upper Tribunal on the ground that the First-tier Tribunal had given inadequate reasons for its decision, given the support of the mental health team. The Upper Tribunal judge rejected that contention, holding that the First-tier Tribunal had had the relevant criteria in mind and had properly had regard to the appellant’s vulnerabilities and the seriousness of the offences of which he had been convicted, but granted the appellant permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal. Before the Court of Appeal it was argued for the appellant for the first time that, in the light of R (H) v Mental Health Review Tribunal, North and East London Region and the Secretary of State for Health [2001] EWCA Civ 415 (Admin); [2002] QB 1, SC had been wrongly decided in respect of section 75(3) of the Mental Health Act 1983 because it was contrary to the European Convention on Human Rights for the burden of proof under the Act to be on a psychiatric patient.
Held, dismissing the appeal, that:

1. in H the Court of Appeal had held that the test in the form in which it was then enacted in section 72 of the Act, as applied by section 73 to restricted patients, was incompatible with Article 5(1) and (4) of the Convention because the patient would not be discharged unless the tribunal was satisfied that he was not suffering from a mental condition which made it appropriate for him to be liable to be detained and sections 72 and 73 had been amended in response, but in a section 75(3) case Article 5 would not be engaged unless and until the appellant were recalled (paragraphs 23 to 25);

2. assuming that the conditions imposed on a conditional discharge were capable of amounting to an interference with a patient’s private life for the purposes of Article 8.1, it was neither unfair, nor in any way disproportionate or unnecessary, where a patient is subject to an order made by a competent court after a criminal trial, to require him to satisfy the First-tier Tribunal that the order should cease to have effect (paragraphs 26 to 28);

3. when considering applications under section 75(3), the First-tier Tribunal is not concerned with finding facts which are capable of exact demonstration, but rather with a process of judgment, evaluation and assessment and, while the burden of proof has a potential part to play in that process, the tribunal generally should not need to have specific regard to any burden of proof: R (N) v Mental Health Review Tribunal (Northern Region) [2005] EWCA Civ 1605 (paragraph 29);

4. the First-tier Tribunal was entitled to disagree with the conclusion of the professionally qualified witnesses and, bearing in mind the gravity of the index offences, the circumstances leading to the appellant’s recall in 1997, and the fact that he still suffered from a mental disorder requiring psychiatric support, the fact that it could, at most, be said that he was “relatively unlikely to seriously offend again” was not sufficient to persuade the tribunal that there was no longer a real risk to the public with an attendant risk of recall (paragraphs 30 to 32);

5. particular care should be exercised by the Upper Tribunal before granting permission to appeal on a ground that was not raised below and, if it does consider it appropriate to grant permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal because it is satisfied that one or more of the grounds of appeal raises an important point of principle or practice, it should carefully consider whether the grant of permission should be limited to that ground or grounds and consideration should also be given to eliciting a response from the other party/parties before granting permission (paragraphs 36 and 37).

DECISION OF THE UPPER TRIBUNAL

(ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS CHAMBER)
(RH v South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (Restriction Order) 

[2010] UKUT 32 (AAC))
Mr Rory Dunlop of counsel, instructed by Steel & Samash, solicitors of London SE1, represented the appellant.

The respondents neither appeared nor were represented.

Decision:
This appeal is dismissed.
REASONS FOR DECISION

1.
The appellant, who was aged 60 at the time of the hearing before the First-tier Tribunal, killed his two young children at home in October 1977. The elder, aged 9, he poisoned and then drowned in the bath. The younger, aged 5, he poisoned on the following day and then suffocated. Eight days later he attempted suicide by poisoning and it was following that that he was arrested. On 14 March 1978, he was convicted on two counts of manslaughter and hospital orders and restriction orders were imposed under the Mental Health Act 1959. He was admitted to Broadmoor Hospital on 6 April 1978 and transferred to Ashworth Hospital for administrative reasons in 1983. On 19 March 1986, he was conditionally discharged from Ashworth Hospital.

2.
On 26 November 1997, he was recalled to hospital, after sending threatening letters to his probation officer and to mental health professionals involved in his treatment, and he was admitted to a secure unit in London, in circumstances that were described by the First-tier Tribunal (see below). On 4 November 1998, he was again conditionally discharged by a mental health review tribunal and he has not been recalled to hospital since then. 
3.
On 11 June 2008, the appellant applied to a mental health review tribunal for a direction under section 75(3)(b) of the Mental Health Act 1983 (the 1983 Act) that the restriction order imposed on him should cease to have effect so that he would cease to be liable to be detained pursuant to the hospital order.
4.
On 3 November 2008, mental health review tribunals in England were absorbed into the First-tier Tribunal. On 18 November 2008, the First-tier Tribunal considered the appellant’s application and rejected it, despite the fact that the application was supported by the responsible clinician who had been treating the appellant, his social worker and an independent psychiatrist. Only the Secretary of State had opposed the application. 

5.
In view of the grounds upon which the First-tier Tribunal’s decision is challenged, it is desirable to set out a large part of the statement of reasons. After referring to R (SC) v Mental Health Review Tribunal [2005] EWHC 17 (Admin); [2005] MHLR 31 and recounting the early history of the case, the tribunal continued:
“7.
He was recalled to the [hospital] by warrant of the Secretary of State dated 24 November 1997. The circumstances leading to that were that in November 1997 [the appellant] saw a report written by his social supervisor describing [the appellant] as ‘murdering’ his two children. [The appellant] became angry and showed that by repeatedly sending faxed aggressive letters to the social work department. Over the weekend of 23/24 November [the appellant] sent a fax message to his psychiatric supervisor criticising his social supervisor and naming a member of the Mental Health Unit. Later the same member of staff at the Mental Health Unit received a threatening fax message from [the appellant] reminding her of the details of his index offences and warning her to recall him or he would ‘respond in kind’, either to her or her supervisor. In addition some of the threats made indicated that [the appellant] had been drinking heavily which was a feature of the index offences in 1977.

8.
On the evidence of Dr Hukin, the Responsible Clinician, we find that [the appellant] continues to suffer from mental disorder consisting of a personality disorder with mainly features of borderline type with some dissocial traits. He has a history of abnormal emotional development dating from early adolescence marked by anxiety concerning his body and confusion in relation to sexuality, and difficulty with interpersonal relationships. In the past he has had marked feelings of inferiority and a tendency to use grandiose conversational style. Gambling and alcohol remain persistent problems.
9.
We are not satisfied that it is not appropriate for [the appellant] to remain liable to be recalled for the following reasons.

10.
[The appellant] continues to suffer from mental disorder of the nature and degree described above and the index offences were among the most serious possible offences.

11.
He was subject to recall from conditional discharge in 1997 in circumstances that gave rise to serious anxiety as to the safety of members of the public and in response to appeals by [the appellant], accompanied by threats, to be recalled.

12.
Since his conditional discharge his life has not been without difficulties. He has been able to cope but we are satisfied that the support he received under his conditional discharge was very important to his capacity to cope.
13.
Although both members of his present support team, Dr Hukin and Mr Oguntoyinbo, support absolute discharge, their evidence, both written and oral, was that [the appellant] is well supported in his present arrangements and, even more important, benefits from that support and related support such as the availability of the services of Dr Hillier-Davies. [The appellant] in his evidence confirmed all of that.

14.
The report of the independent psychiatrist, Dr Boast, states as follows:
‘5.
In conclusion it can never be said that someone is not a risk. Individuals who kill have a higher risk of killing again than the general population. On the other hand … [the appellant] falls into a group of restricted patients who are relatively unlikely to seriously re-offend again.

6.
In addition he seems to appreciate that not being on a restriction order is not the same thing as not having input from a psychiatric team. He is someone who should have ongoing indefinite input because there is an element of vulnerability and he could have the sort of difficulties in the future that he had had since he left hospital; in 1989.’

We accept all of Dr Boast’s analysis of [the appellant’s] position but do not share his conclusions. We agree that [the appellant] is ‘relatively unlikely to seriously offend again’ but we cannot conclude from that that it is not appropriate for him to be liable to recall. We agree also that he continues to have vulnerabilities that may well entail the necessity of psychiatric intervention and, we would say, possible recall.
15.
We have considered all the evidence before us very carefully and are satisfied that although, with his present level of support under his conditional discharge, [the appellant’s] condition is stable, it can, at most, be said, as Dr Boast states, that ‘he is relatively unlikely to seriously offend again’. We bear in mind the index offences and the circumstances that led to his recall in 1997 as set out in Para 7 above. He is a man with continuing vulnerabilities.
16.
Our conclusion is that there remains a real risk to the public and to [the appellant] from his mental disorder with an attendant risk of his recall to hospital.

17.
We consider that the present conditions (modified earlier this year by the tribunal in its decision of 27 May 2008), meet any such risk admirably and with those conditions in place such risk is minimised. We conclude that it is desirable to continue the present conditions and that is our order.”

6.
The appellant now appeals against that decision under section 11 of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 with the permission of a Regional Judge of the First-tier Tribunal. The appeal is unopposed – a matter about which I will make further observations below – but the absence of any effective submission from anyone other than the appellant does not remove from me the burden of considering the merits of the appellant’s case.

7.
Although three numbered grounds of appeal are advanced, there are really only two, because, as Mr Dunlop, who appeared on behalf of the appellant, accepted, the second numbered ground (irrational failure to deal adequately or at all with the medical and social work evidence) is merely an aspect of the first (inadequate reasons). Even the third numbered ground (conflation of two issues that should have been kept separate) is related to the tribunal’s reasoning.
8.
Mr Dunlop’s submission in respect of the adequacy of the First-tier Tribunal’s reasons was that the tribunal had failed to give any reasons for rejecting the unanimous view of Dr Hukin, Mr Oguntoyinbo and Dr Boast that the tribunal should direct that the restriction order should cease to have effect. He referred me to R v Mental Health Review Tribunal, ex parte Clatworthy [1985] 3 All ER 699, where Mann J held a mental health review tribunal had erred in law when it failed to give adequate reasons for rejecting the evidence of two expert witnesses. However, the Court of Appeal has recently warned of the danger, in the context of considering the adequacy of reasons, of “elevating into general principles what are statements by judges made by reference to the facts and circumstances of particular cases but taken out of context” (H v East Sussex County Council [2009] EWCA Civ 249 at [15]). In considering any challenge to the adequacy of a tribunal’s reasons, it is important to have clearly in mind both what the issue before the tribunal actually was and what the evidence was.

9.
In Clatworthy, the issue was whether the patient was suffering from a mental disorder and, more particularly, a psychopathic disorder. The two expert witnesses with whom the tribunal disagreed had given detailed reasons for their view that the patient was not suffering from a psychopathic disorder. The tribunal’s only reasons for rejecting that evidence were that it considered that the patient had “the features of psychopathic disorder as defined in the Act and repeatedly diagnosed by doctors at Rampton Hospital” and that there was no sign of a change since his first admission to Rampton Hospital. That reasoning was inadequate because, against the detailed reasoning of the two expert witnesses, the tribunal did not state what features of psychopathic disorder they had identified in circumstances where that was not obvious from the evidence and because the diagnoses from Rampton not only pre-dated the relevant statutory definition of psychopathic disorder but were also not “the subject of exposition before the tribunal”. Had those diagnoses been reasoned, the tribunal might possibly have been taken to have preferred that reasoning to the reasoning of the expert witnesses if the reasoning had answered the points made by the expert witnesses who had appeared before the tribunal (see Hampshire County Council v JP [2009] UKUT 239 (AAC); [2010] AACR 15 at [37] and [39]) but, in the absence of such reasoning, the tribunal had to supply its own reasons and had failed to do so. 
10.
In the present case, the nature of the First-tier Tribunal’s disagreement with the expert witnesses was rather different. It is convenient first to consider the legal issue before the First-tier Tribunal. The powers to impose hospital orders and restriction orders are now to be found in sections 37 and 41 of the 1983 Act. Section 37 enables a court to impose a hospital order where a person has been convicted of an offence punishable by imprisonment but has been found to be suffering from mental disorder making it appropriate for him to be detained in hospital. Section 41 provides that a restriction order may be made in addition to a hospital order if “it appears to the court, having regard to the nature of the offence, the antecedents of the offender and the risk of his committing further offences if set free, that it is necessary for the protection of the public from serious harm so to do”. Section 73 makes provision as to the circumstances in which, in England, the First-tier Tribunal must discharge a restricted patient and, in particular, provides in subsection (2) (when read with subsection (1)(b)) that a patient must be conditionally discharged, rather than absolutely discharged, if the tribunal is not satisfied that “it is not appropriate for the patient to remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment”. Where, as in the present case, a restricted patient has been conditionally discharged and not recalled to hospital, section 75(2) provides that the patient is entitled periodically to make an application to the First-tier Tribunal. Section 75(3) then provides:
“Sections 73 and 74 above shall not apply to an application under subsection (2) above but on any such application the tribunal may –
(a)
vary any condition to which the patient is subject in connection with his discharge or impose any condition which might have been imposed in connection therewith; or
(b) direct that the restriction order … to which he is subject shall cease to have effect;
and if the tribunal gives a direction under paragraph (b) above the patient shall cease to be liable to be detained by virtue of the relevant hospital order … .”

11.
In R (SC) v Mental Health Review Tribunal, Munby J considered the approach to be taken to section 75(3) and said:
“[56]
Section 75(3) applies only to a restricted patient who, like SC, has been conditionally discharged. Bearing in mind the provisions of sections 37, 41 and 73 of the Act, one can, as it seems to me, readily identify the most important of the factors that are likely to feed into the exercise of discretion under section 75(3). Any patient applying under section 75(3) will, by definition, have been, just as SC was:
(i) convicted of a criminal offence sufficiently grave as to merit a possible sentence of imprisonment: section 37(1);
 (ii)
found to be suffering from mental disorder meriting his detention in hospital for treatment: section 37(2)(a)(i);
(iii) found to be someone whose risk of re-offending is such that a restriction order is “necessary for the protection of the public from serious harm”: section 41(1); and
 (iv)
found by the Tribunal (unless previously discharged by the Secretary of State under section 42(2)) to be someone who, although not requiring for the time being to be detained in hospital for medical treatment (sections 72(1)(b), 73(1)(a), 73(2)(a)), should nonetheless remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment: section 73(2)(b).
[57]
It is against this background that the exercise by the Tribunal of its powers under section 75(3) takes place. Accordingly, the Tribunal when exercising these powers will need to consider such matters as the nature, gravity and circumstances of the patient’s offence, the nature and gravity of his mental disorder, past, present and future, the risk and likelihood of the patient re-offending, the degree of harm to which the public may be exposed if he re-offends, the risk and likelihood of a recurrence or exacerbation of any mental disorder, and the risk and likelihood of his needing to be recalled in the future for further treatment in hospital. The Tribunal will also need to consider the nature of any conditions previously imposed, whether by the Tribunal or by the Secretary of State, under sections 42(2), 73(4)(b) or 73(5), the reasons why they were imposed and the extent to which it is desirable to continue, vary or add to them.
[58]
As Mr Ward submits, in exercising the powers under section 75(3) questions as to the patient’s mental health, his safety and questions of public safety are evidently relevant. …
[59]
… Moreover, as Mr Ward points out, section 73 also points the way to a crucial question which the Tribunal will need to consider when exercising its powers under section 75(3). The consequence of an order under section 75(3)(b) is that the restriction order ceases to have effect; in other words, that what was previously only a conditional discharge becomes in effect an absolute discharge. But, as section 73 demonstrates, the difference between the two is the difference between the patient who is, and the patient who is no longer, liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment. So, in effect, one of the key questions that the Tribunal will wish to ask itself … is whether it is – as section 73(1)(b) puts it – ‘satisfied that it is not appropriate for the patient to remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment’. If the Tribunal is not so satisfied, then it is difficult to see that it could be appropriate for it to make an order under section 75(3)(b).

[60]
Mr Pezzani correctly points out that s73 ‘shall not apply’ to an application under section 75(2). But this, with respect to him, does not mean, as he puts it, that the matters which are referred to in sections 72(1)(b)(i) and 72(1)(b)(ii) are ‘excluded’ by section 75(3) from the Tribunal’s consideration of an application under section 75(2). Nor, specifically, does it mean that there is ‘explicitly excluded’ from consideration by section 75(3), as Mr Pezzani submits, the question of whether it is appropriate that the patient remains liable to be recalled. As Mr Ward rightly submits, the effect of section 75(3) is not to preclude the Tribunal from considering the kind of factors which fall for consideration under section 73. Rather as he puts it, the effect is that the Tribunal, when exercising its discretion under section 75(3), is not constrained by the mandatory terms of section 73, which bind the approach of the Tribunal when considering the exercise of its powers under section 73.”
12.
The First-tier Tribunal clearly had Munby J’s judgment at the forefront of its mind because it set out verbatim most of [57] and some other parts of [56] to [60] and it summarised the rest of those paragraphs. 
13.
I turn to the evidence and the factual issue before the First-tier Tribunal. As Mr Dunlop submitted, the evidence was consistent.
14.
Paragraph 8 of the First-tier Tribunal’s decision more or less reproduces the first paragraph of the last section of Dr Hukin’s report. Dr Hukin had dealt with the history in some detail. She described the appellant’s gambling which had in the past resulted in him accumulating large debts but which was now relatively well controlled. She also described his alcohol consumption, saying of his recent drinking:
“During my contact with [the appellant] his pattern of drinking has changed. When I first met him in August 2005 he was drinking three times a week with a friend in the pub. He admitted to drinking only one pint. However, he is now drinking two to three cans of Fosters lager approximately three to four times a week and tends to drink this on his own stating that it is cheaper than going to the pub. He does not drink during the day. However despite this increase in alcohol usage over the last three years there has been no obvious detrimental effects on his mental state but his care coordinator and myself have talked to [the appellant] about trying to reduce his alcohol intake.”
She mentioned that, when talking about the index offences at an interview on 30 July 2008, “he appeared a little upset which is the first occasion that either his care coordinator or myself have noticed any emotional response when discussing these events.” She also said that the appellant “has some insight into his condition recognising that stress can adversely affect him; however he still has a tendency to minimise his problems.” Stress appears to have been a factor both in respect of the index offences and the events leading to the appellant’s recall, in respect of which Dr Hukin referred to him having become “increasingly concerned about the stress of living with his brother Len over the weeks prior to his readmission”. In the final section of her report, after the paragraph reproduced by the First-tier Tribunal, she said:
“The index offence appears to have been triggered by feeling abandoned by his wife and the stress that induced and having to look after his two children whom he believed at the time would lead unhappy and unfulfilling lives. The index offence occurred in the context of stress and substance misuse.

In recent years [the appellant] has been stable in mental state and as with many people with personality disorders there has been an improvement in his mental state and personality traits. He has engaged well with social services. He has agreed should he receive an absolute discharge to continue regular contact. He has coped well with the death of his brother whom he was carer for; this did not lead to a major deterioration in his mental state. [The appellant] continues to drink alcohol and to gamble and I believe is likely to continue to do so. Fortunately, he is not in any debt and takes pride in managing his finances.

Currently I believe the risks are low to [the appellant] and others. He appears to have gained a little insight although this could improve. I believe that he will continue to engage with mental health services and would respectfully recommend an absolute discharge for him. This is also the opinion of his care co-ordinator and psychologist. If this was granted he would continue to be seen regularly by his care co-ordinator from the forensic team and myself. He would also have ongoing access to seeing the forensic psychologist.”

15.
The reports from Mr Oguntoyinbo, the social worker, and Dr Hillier-Davies, the psychologist, were to similar effect. The former said:
“… I feel that he has responded well to psychological and psychosocial treatment and even though he remains medication free his mental state remains stable, and triggers to his possible deterioration and the risks that have been of concern is [sic] very minimal.”
Dr Hillier-Davies said in his concluding comments:
“As part of the risk management, it [sic] is important is that [the appellant] remains positive and motivated to maintain links with the mental health services as he has over recent years, and that he feels that he has access to social or psychological support should this become necessary at some future date.

My view is that the restriction order is not clinically required as [the appellant] is fully compliant. Clearly potential risks related to gambling and drinking will be on-going. However, [the appellant] states that he is committed to maintaining contact with Dr Hukin and/or other mental health staff on a regular (quarterly) basis and, should discharge conditions for medical and social supervision and support be considered necessary, he would fully accept this arrangement.”

16.
The First-tier Tribunal also had before it an independent psychiatric report from Dr Boast. He expressed similar views about the appellant and he then made observations on the issue before the First-tier Tribunal. First, he made the point that the issue was whether a restriction order was needed to protect the public from serious harm, as opposed to any harm. Secondly, he made the point that the purpose of restriction orders is not to protect patients from themselves. Thirdly, he said:
“The greatest worry with this man would be if he were in a situation of an intense relationship, with conflicted and angry feelings. In this respect in contrast to other things he said to me I found his friendship with a man, who he described as personality disordered, potentially worrying. He said this man had been in prison, he drank heavily and argued. [The appellant] however seemed to be keeping detached from this man and I think that is an appropriate way of him dealing with the risk. His solution of not getting involved in intense relationships is likely to be protective.”

He concluded:
“5.
In conclusion it can never be said that someone is not a risk. Individuals who kill have a higher risk of killing again than the general population. On the other hand, for the reasons that I have set out above, [the appellant] falls into a group of restricted patients who are relatively unlikely to seriously re-offend again.
6.
In addition he seems to appreciate that not being on a restriction order is not the same thing as not having any input from a psychiatric team. He is someone who should have ongoing indefinite input because there is an element of vulnerability and he could have the sort of difficulties in the future that he has had since he left hospital in 1999.

7.
Thus on balance [the appellant] should no longer be liable to recall to hospital but can be dealt with as an ordinary psychiatric patient.”

17.
Against that background, it seems to me that the reasons given by the First-tier Tribunal fully explain why it reached the decision that it did. It did not disagree with any of the assessments of the appellant’s mental health or of the likelihood of him ceasing to engage with the mental health team or re-offending. That is an important distinction between this case and Clatworthy. Here, the First-tier Tribunal merely disagreed as to the conclusion to be drawn from the assessments when it came to considering whether the restriction order should cease to have effect. That was the kind of judgment for which it is difficult to give reasons beyond those required to show that the tribunal has directed itself correctly as to the law and to show to what matters the tribunal has had regard. I am satisfied that the reasons given by the First-tier Tribunal in those respects were adequate. Indeed, if one looks just at the issue of whether it was necessary for the restriction order to continue in the light of the assessment of the appellant’s current mental health, as opposed to whether it was possible to manage him in the community, the reasoning in the reports is no more detailed than that of the First-tier Tribunal and arguably less so save in the case of Dr Boast.

18.
As to the law, the First-tier Tribunal’s extensive references to R (SC) v Mental Health Review Tribunal are enough to show that it had the correct legal test in mind. It rightly said that it did not necessarily follow from the fact that the appellant was “relatively unlikely to seriously offend again” that there could not be a sufficient risk to justify keeping the restriction order in force. As to the relevant considerations in assessing the risk, the First-tier Tribunal had regard to the “vulnerabilities” acknowledged in the reports, which plainly included the appellant’s personality disorder with the attendant, even if small, risk of developing stressful relationships, together with his continuing problems with gambling and, more importantly, alcohol consumption and the effect that stress had on his mental health. It also had regard to the seriousness of the index offences, which were two deliberate killings, to the circumstances of the appellant’s recall and to the fact that alcohol consumption had been a factor in both the index offences and the events leading to his recall. Those are all material considerations which together amply justify and explain the conclusion reached by the First-tier Tribunal that the risk of serious harm to the public was such that it was appropriate for the appellant to remain subject to recall. 

19.
In the grounds of appeal, it is specifically argued that the First-tier Tribunal should have given reasons for disagreeing with Dr Boast’s view that the appellant could be managed as an ordinary psychiatric patient. This is related to the submission that it ought also to have given reasons for not accepting the view expressed in all the reports that the appellant was likely to continue engaging with the mental health team and to the submission that the First-tier Tribunal conflated the need for ongoing psychiatric input and the need for the appellant to be liable to recall and reasoned from the need for psychiatric input that the appellant should be subject to recall.
20.
I do not accept the premises upon which these submissions are based. The First-tier Tribunal has not given any indication that it did not accept that, for the foreseeable future, it was probable that the appellant would continue to engage with the mental health team and could be managed as an ordinary psychiatric patient. Nor is there any indication that it continued the restriction order in order to secure continued co-operation with the mental health team that was not otherwise likely to be forthcoming or that it did not accept Dr Hillier-Davies’ view that a restriction order was “not clinically required” (my emphasis).
21.
Mr Dunlop referred to paragraphs 12 and 17 of the First-tier Tribunal’s decision where it was said that “the support he received under his conditional discharge was very important to his capacity to cope” and that the conditions “admirably” met the risk there was to the public. I do not consider that the First-tier Tribunal was saying any more than that the appellant’s capacity to cope was not based on particularly firm foundations and that the conditions imposed would ensure that, if he did cease to engage with the mental health team with the consequent risk that he might cease to be able to cope, consideration would be given to his being recalled. Those were perfectly proper matters for the First-tier Tribunal to take into account.
22.
What Munby J makes clear in R (SC) v Mental Health Review Tribunal at [57], is that the question whether a restriction order should remain in force depends on an assessment of risk having regard to, among other things, the patient’s prognosis as regards the nature and gravity of any mental disorder from which he might suffer in the future. Indeed, it is not necessary for the continuation of a restriction order that the patient currently be mentally disordered at all (see R (Secretary of State for the Home Department) v Mental Health Review Tribunal [2004] EWHC 1029 (Admin); [2004] MHLR 184, where Moses J referred to the clear effect of section 73). Therefore, the criteria for directing that a restriction order should cease to have effect are very different from the criteria for directing the discharge of a non-restricted patient subject to a community treatment order (see section 72(1)(c) of the 1983 Act). That is important in the present case because the reports before the First-tier Tribunal focused on the position in the relatively short term, as might have been appropriate had the continuation of a community treatment order been in issue, whereas the First-tier Tribunal had also to consider what might happen in the long term.

23.
It is important to note that Munby J also said that regard had to be had to the gravity of the index offence and, indeed, in assessing “the risk and likelihood of the patient re-offending, the degree of harm to which the public may be exposed if he re-offends”, it would appear that regard should also be had to the gravity of other past offences since section 41(1) makes it clear that a person’s antecedents are relevant to whether a restriction order should be imposed in the first place.
24.
The gravity of past offences is partly relevant because, as Dr Boast acknowledged, the seriousness of past offending may be a guide to the possible seriousness of any future offending and because, as with any assessment of a risk of serious harm, one must have regard both to the likelihood of the harm occurring and to the seriousness of the harm that might occur if the risk materialises. The more serious the harm that might occur if the risk materialises, the more one needs to guard against even a relatively low chance of its occurrence.

25.
The gravity of past offences is also relevant because, where an offence is serious enough to be punishable by a sentence of life imprisonment, Parliament has given a particularly powerful indication that a long-term view of risks must be taken. Such a sentence does not usually have the effect that the offender remains in prison for the rest of his life but it does have the effect that after his release he remains on licence, and therefore subject to possible recall to prison, for the rest of his life. It would be surprising if a different approach were required to be taken to the assessment of risk where a hospital order has been imposed on a person convicted of such a serious offence and the question for the court is whether a restriction order should also be imposed or the question for a tribunal is whether a restriction order should cease to have effect.

26.
It seems to me that this provides an answer to Dr Boast’s concern that “[i]f … the standard is to have no evidence of the mental disorder for which a hospital order was made, then it would be only the very occasional patient in full prolonged remission who could achieve an absolute discharge”. As I have mentioned, evidence of current mental disorder is not actually required in all cases. Nonetheless, I would accept that the mere existence of current, or possible future, mental disorder is not enough to justify the continuation of a restriction order. The First-tier Tribunal must also have regard to the seriousness of any risk of harm to others.

27.
However, manslaughter may, and murder must, be punished by a sentence of life imprisonment. It therefore cannot be regarded as surprising that a restriction order imposed in a case of manslaughter arising out of a deliberate killing – in this case, two deliberate killings – should remain in force for as long as that person continues to be subject to what the First-tier Tribunal here called “vulnerabilities”, even if that has the effect that, in some cases, it will remain in force for life. In this case, the First-tier Tribunal regarded the risk of harm to others to be sufficiently serious to justify the continuation of the restriction order. Reading its decision as a whole against the background of the evidence before it and a proper understanding of the law, there can be no doubt as to why it reached that conclusion or that the decision was one it was entitled to reach. Accordingly, I dismiss this appeal.

28.
I recognise that this decision will be disappointing to the appellant. He has plainly made substantial progress. However, that by itself is not an adequate reason for removing a restriction order.

29.
I regret that this case has taken far longer to be determined than should have been the case. A substantial reason for the delay, although not the only one, has been the failure of the respondents to engage with the Upper Tribunal in this appeal. The appellant not being actually detained in a hospital, some time was taken trying to persuade the respondents to make submissions when they first showed a reluctance to do so. I note that in BB v South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust [2009] UKUT 157 (AAC), the same two respondents appear to have taken no part in the proceedings.
30.
This lack of engagement may be partly because the right of appeal to the Upper Tribunal is a new one. In the past, challenges to decisions of mental health review tribunals were brought by way of proceedings in the Administrative Court for judicial review. The tribunal was the respondent and frequently actively resisted applications, leaving the managers of hospitals and, in a case where a patient was subject to a restriction order, the Secretary of State as interested parties who did not need to take an active part in proceedings if they did not wish to do so. Now there is a statutory appeal on a point of law to the Upper Tribunal. The First-tier Tribunal is not a party to such an appeal and the managers of the hospital are a respondent, with the Secretary of State for Justice also being a respondent in a case where a patient has been subject to a restriction order.

31.
There is no obligation on respondents to oppose appeals; they may equally well support them. However, it is extremely unsatisfactory for public authority respondents to make no submission at all, even where the question of law that arises is concerned with the conduct of the First-tier Tribunal rather than a serious dispute as to the interpretation of the law. There is a public interest in appeals at this level being properly argued because decisions of the Upper Tribunal on questions of legal principle bind the First-tier Tribunal and so have an impact on the standard of adjudication in the First-tier Tribunal and on the development of the law generally. Hospitals, collectively, and the Secretary of State have an interest in the standards of adjudication in mental health cases. One might also expect them to take an interest in the way mental health law is developed and, as this case illustrates, what appears at first sight to be a routine case concerned with the adequacy of a tribunal’s reasoning may on closer inspection raise an issue of more general interest and importance. However, I acknowledge that individual NHS trusts may not have in-house expertise and may consider that responding to appeals is disproportionately expensive in the absence of a central point administered by the Department of Health to which cases might be referred. 
32.
As far as the first respondent in this case is concerned, it is unfortunate that the Upper Tribunal initially sent the documents to the responsible clinician, rather than to the Mental Health Act Administrator, but I find it odd that, having decided that the documents appeared to relate to a “legal matter requiring a response by a suitable legal professional”, the responsible clinician merely replied to the Upper Tribunal in those terms and did not refer the documents to the Trust’s solicitors. When I indicated that I wished to know whether the Trust, which appeared to have supported the appellant’s case before the First-tier Tribunal remained of the same view and also whether it supported the appellant’s submission that the First-tier Tribunal’s decision was flawed, I received an answer to the first question, but not the second. A further request for a submission merely elicited the response that the Senior Mental Health Act Co-ordinator had passed the letter to the responsible clinician. Eventually, when an oral hearing was directed, the documents in the case reached the Trust’s solicitors who made it plain that they did not wish to advance any argument on the appeal but offered to provide any further information or assistance that might be required. In view of the fact that the issue both before the First-tier Tribunal and on this appeal was essentially between the appellant and the Secretary of State, I was content not to seek any further assistance from the Trust if, in the light of legal advice, it did not wish to take any further part in the proceedings.
33.
As far as the Secretary of State is concerned, the Casework Manager at the Mental Health Unit made it clear in her initial response that the Secretary of State remained of the same view as he had advanced successfully before the First-tier Tribunal but she did not make any submission as to whether the First-tier Tribunal’s decision was erroneous in point of law, which is the principal issue to be determined by the Upper Tribunal on an appeal under section 11 of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007. When I indicated that I wished to have a fuller submission, the Mental Health Unit referred the case to the Treasury Solicitors, who made a submission setting out in detail the history of the case that I already knew but then said that the Secretary of State did not oppose the appeal but would advance no grounds in support of that position. That was not very helpful, given that proceedings in this sort of case are not truly adversarial. Unfortunately, I failed to anticipate that they would also not respond to the notice of hearing and I was not made aware of the lack of response until just before the hearing. Had I been aware of the lack of response, I might have given some indication as to why I had been unwilling to allow the appeal on the papers.
34.
The question on an appeal to the Upper Tribunal is often not so much whether the First-tier Tribunal reached the right conclusion as whether the process by which it reached its conclusion was flawed. If the process was not flawed, the appeal to the Upper Tribunal will usually fail. If the process was flawed, the appellant will generally be entitled to a new hearing before the First-tier Tribunal. However, it must be remembered that, on an appeal, the Upper Tribunal has far greater powers to substitute its own decision for a decision it has set aside for error of law than the Administrative Court does in judicial review proceedings. Although the Upper Tribunal is unlikely to exercise those powers in cases where the specialist knowledge of expert members of the First-tier Tribunal might be required, it may do so in other cases where it has sufficient evidence before it or it can rely upon findings made by the First-tier Tribunal that are not vitiated by the error of law. 
35.
Thus, a respondent who opposes an appellant’s absolute discharge may nonetheless accept that the First-tier Tribunal erred in law. Such a concession, if well made and accompanied by an indication as to whether it is necessary for the case to be remitted to the First-tier Tribunal, is likely to assist the Upper Tribunal to dispose of an appeal quickly. Appropriate opposition to an appeal may, on the other hand, assist the Upper Tribunal by either narrowing the issues or drawing attention to different considerations and by requiring the appellant to focus on particular points in his or her reply. Deciding whether to support or oppose an appeal may concentrate a respondent’s mind on what the issues really are.
36.
Involvement in proceedings before the Upper Tribunal should seldom give rise to the level of expense incurred by public authorities in proceedings in the Administrative Court, particularly as the Upper Tribunal need not always hold an oral hearing, non-lawyers may write submissions and have rights of audience and, in mental health cases, there is no power to order one party to pay another party’s costs (although a wasted costs order may be made against a representative if the circumstances warrant it). The Department for Work and Pensions has for decades trained non-lawyers to write submissions on points of law for the Upper Tribunal and its predecessors, although it is always represented by lawyers at hearings. The non-lawyers have access to legal advice and representation and so a proportionate but informed response can be made in all cases. Perhaps the caseworkers in the Mental Health Unit of the Ministry of Justice could similarly be trained to make submissions on points of law, with cases being referred to the Treasury Solicitors only when they consider it necessary. 
37.
I cannot compel respondents to take part in proceedings before the Upper Tribunal but I hope that those likely to be regular respondents will give some thought as to whether they ought to do so and can do so without undue expense. It seems particularly unsatisfactory that no-one appears to represent the public interest in cases where patients are subject to restriction orders.
38.
There are also some lessons that the Upper Tribunal has learned from this case, including the need to identify accurately the person at a hospital to whom documents should be sent, the need to identify accurately cases in which the Secretary of State is a party, the need automatically to ask all parties at an early stage whether they want a hearing and the need to keep track of responses to hearing notices. Hopefully, even cases where the patient is not actually detained will be dealt with considerably more expeditiously in the future.
The appellant appealed to the Court of Appeal. The decision of the Court of Appeal follows.

DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL

Miss Laura Davidson, instructed by Steel & Shamash, appeared for the appellant.

Dr Vikram Sachdeva, instructed by Bates Wells & Braithwaite, appeared for the first respondent.

Mr Paul Greatorex, instructed by The Treasury Solicitors, appeared for the second respondent.
Judgment (reserved)

LORD JUSTICE SULLIVAN: 

Introduction

1. This is an appeal with the permission of the Upper Tribunal (Administrative Appeals Chamber) (UT) against the UT’s decision dated 8 February 2010 (corrected 15 March 2010) dismissing the appellant’s appeal against the decision of the First-tier Tribunal (Health, Education and Social Care Chamber) (F-tT) on 18 November 2008 rejecting his application under section 75(2) of the Mental Health Act 1983 (the Act) for a direction under section 75(3)(b) that the restriction order imposed upon him on 14 March 1978 under the Mental Health Act 1959 (the 1959 Act) should cease to have effect so that he would cease to be liable to be detained under a hospital order.

Factual background

2. The hospital order and the restriction order were made following the appellant’s conviction on 14 March 1978 on two counts of manslaughter. In October 1977 he had killed his two young children. The older child, aged 9, was poisoned and then drowned in the bath. The younger child, aged 5, was poisoned on the following day, and then suffocated. Eight days later the appellant attempted to commit suicide by poisoning, following which he was arrested. He was admitted to Broadmoor Hospital on 6 April 1978, transferred to Ashworth Hospital in 1983, and was conditionally discharged from Ashworth in 1986.

3. On 26 November 1997 he was recalled to hospital because he had faxed threatening letters and messages to his probation officer and mental health professionals. He was admitted to the Bracton Centre, but was subsequently granted a conditional discharge by a Mental Health Review Tribunal on 4 November 1998. At the time of the hearing before the F-tT on 18 November 2008 the appellant was subject to three conditions. The first required him to live at a particular address. The second and third conditions were:

“2.
That he should be under the medical supervision of his RMO and accept whatever medical treatment he may from time to time prescribe and attend outpatients appointments as necessary.

3.
That he should be under the supervision and direction of a social worker appointed to his case.”

Since 18 November 1998 the appellant had been living in the community in compliance with those conditions.

4. The appellant’s application under section 75(3)(b) for the discharge of his restriction order was supported by his Responsible Medical Officer (RMO), now Responsible Clinician (RC) Dr Hukin, by his social supervisor, Mr Oguntoyinbo, and by his psychotherapist, Mr Hillier-Davies. In addition to hearing oral evidence from the appellant, Dr Hukin and Mr Oguntoyinbo, the F-tT considered written reports by Mr Hillier-Davies and an independent forensic psychiatrist, Dr Boast, who also supported the appellant’s application. The F-tT also considered a written statement and supplementary statements from the Secretary of State opposing the application. The only opposition to the application was that of the Secretary of State.

The statutory scheme

5. Although the Court in 1978 dealt with the appellant under the 1959 Act, it is convenient to consider the statutory scheme by reference to the current provisions in the Act. Following conviction for an offence punishable by imprisonment, the Court has power to make a hospital order under section 37 of the Act if it is satisfied:

“… that the offender is suffering from mental illness, psychopathic disorder, severe mental impairment or mental impairment and that … the mental disorder from which the offender is suffering is of a nature or degree which makes it appropriate for him to be detained in a hospital for medical treatment and, in the case of psychopathic disorder or mental impairment, that such treatment is likely to alleviate or prevent a deterioration of his condition … [and] … the court is of the opinion, having regard to all the circumstances, including the nature of the offence and the character and antecedents of the offender, and to the other available means of dealing with him, that the most suitable method of disposing of the case is by way of [a hospital] … order …”: subsections 37(1) and (2).

6. Section 41(1) provides that, where the Court makes a hospital order, it may also make a restriction order if:

“it appears to the Court, having regard to the nature of the offence, the antecedents of the offender and the risk of his committing further offences if set at large, that it is necessary for the protection of the public from serious harm so to do, the court may, subject to the provisions of this section, further order that the offender shall be subject to the special restrictions set out in this section … .”

7. The “special restrictions” referred to in subsection (1) include the following modifications to the regime under Part II of the Act:

“(a)
none of the provisions of Part II of this Act relating to the duration, renewal and expiration of authority for the detention of patients shall apply, and the patient shall continue to be liable to be detained by virtue of the relevant hospital order until he is duly discharged under the said Part II or absolutely discharged under section 42, 73, 74 or 75 below:” subsection 41(3).

8. A patient who is subject to a hospital order and a restriction order may apply to a Mental Health Review Tribunal (now the F-tT) to be discharged. Section 73 provides that on such an application:

“the tribunal shall direct the absolute discharge of the patient if –
(a)
the tribunal are not satisfied as to the matters mentioned in paragraph (b)(i) or (ii) of section 72(1) above; and

(b) 
the tribunal are satisfied that it is not appropriate for the patient to remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment. 

(2) Where in the case of any such patient as is mentioned in subsection (1) above –
(a) 
paragraph (a) of that subsection applies; but

(b) 
paragraph (b) of that subsection does not apply,

the tribunal shall direct the conditional discharge of the patient.

(3) Where a patient is absolutely discharged under this section he shall thereupon cease to be liable to be detained by virtue of the relevant hospital order, and the restriction order shall cease to have effect accordingly.

(4) Where a patient is conditionally discharged under this section –
(a) he may be recalled by the Secretary of State under subsection (3) of section 42 above as if he had been conditionally discharged under subsection (2) of that section; and

(b) the patient shall comply with such conditions (if any) as may be imposed at the time of discharge by the tribunal or at any subsequent time by the Secretary of State.”

9. The matters mentioned in paragraph (b)(i) and (ii) of section 72(1) are:

“(i)
that he is then suffering from mental illness, psychopathic disorder, severe mental impairment or mental impairment or from any of those forms of disorder of a nature or degree which makes it appropriate for him to be liable to be detained in a hospital for medical treatment; or

(ii) 
that it is necessary for the health or safety of the patient or for the protection of other persons that he should receive such treatment; … .”

10. There is no suggestion that the decision to conditionally discharge the appellant on 4 November 1998 was unlawful. In particular, it is not suggested that an absolute discharge would have been justified at that time. As a conditionally discharged patient subject to a restriction order the appellant was entitled to apply to the F-tT under section 75(2) of the Act. Subsection 75(3) provides that:

“Sections 73 and 74 above shall not apply to an application under subsection (2) above but on any such application the tribunal may –
(a)
vary any condition to which the patient is subject in connection with his discharge or impose any condition which might have been imposed in connection therewith; or

(b) 
direct that the restriction order … to which he is subject shall cease to have effect; … .”

The SC case

11. The manner in which the F-tT should exercise the discretion conferred by section 75(3) was considered by Munby J (as he then was) in R (on the application of SC v The Mental Health Review Tribunal and the Secretary of State for Health [2005] EWHC 17 (Admin) (SC). Munby J rejected the submission that section 75(3) did not provide a sufficient degree of foreseeability, saying in [57] of his judgment that the tribunal would exercise its powers against the background of the statutory framework contained in the Act:

“Accordingly the Tribunal when exercising these powers will need to consider such matters as the nature, gravity and circumstances of the patient’s offence, the nature and gravity of his mental disorder, past, present and future, the risk and likelihood of the patient re-offending, the degree of harm to which the public may be exposed if he re-offends, the risk and likelihood of a recurrence or exacerbation of any mental disorder, and the risk and likelihood of his needing to be recalled in the future for further treatment in hospital. The Tribunal will also need to consider the nature of any conditions previously imposed, whether by the Tribunal or by the Secretary of State, under sections 42(2), 73(4)(b) or 73(5), the reasons why they were imposed and the extent to which it is desirable to continue, vary or add to them.”

12. Munby J continued in [59]:

“The consequence of an order under section 75(3)(b) is that the restriction order ceases to have effect; in other words, that what was previously only a conditional discharge becomes in effect an absolute discharge. But, as section 73 demonstrates, the difference between the two is the difference between the patient who is, and the patient who is no longer, liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment. So, in effect, one of the key questions that the Tribunal will wish to ask itself when considering how to exercise its powers under section 75(3) is whether it is – as section 73(1)(b) puts it – ‘satisfied that it is not appropriate for the patient to remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment.’ If the Tribunal is not so satisfied, then it is difficult to see that it could be appropriate for it to make an order under section 75(3)(b).”

The F-tT’s decision

13. The F-tT referred to SC, set out both the passage in [57] and the “key question” in [59] of Munby J’s judgment, and said that it had followed the guidance in that decision. Having summarised the factual background, the F-tT said in paragraphs 8–17 (there are two paragraph 15s):

“8.
On the evidence of Dr Hukin, the Responsible Clinician, we find that [RH] continues to suffer from mental disorder consisting of a Personality Disorder with mainly features of borderline type with some dissocial traits. He has a history of abnormal emotional development dating from early adolescence marked by anxiety concerning his body and confusion in relation to sexuality, and difficulty with interpersonal relationships. In the past he has had marked feelings of inferiority and a tendency to use grandiose conversational style. Gambling and alcohol remain persistent problems.

9.
We are not satisfied that it is not appropriate for Mr [RH] to remain liable to be recalled for the following reasons:

10.
[RH] continues to suffer from mental disorder of the nature and degree described above and the index offences were among the most serious possible offences. 

11.
He was subject to recall from conditional discharge in 1997 in circumstances that gave rise to serious anxiety as to the safety of members of the public and in response to appeals by [RH], accompanied by threats, to be recalled. 

12.
Since his conditional discharge his life has not been without difficulties. He has been able to cope but we are satisfied that the support he received under his conditional discharge was very important to his capacity to cope.

13.
Although both members of his present support team, Dr Hukin and Mr Oguntoyinbo, support absolute discharge, their evidence, both written and oral, was that [RH] is well supported in his present arrangements and even more important, benefits from that support and related support such as the availability of the services of Dr Hillier- Davies. [RH] in his evidence confirmed all of that.

14.
The report of the independent psychiatrist, Dr Boast, states as follows:

‘5. In conclusion it can never be said that someone is not a risk. Individuals who kill have a higher risk of killing again that the general population. On the other hand … [RH] falls into a group of restricted patients who are relatively unlikely to seriously re-offend again.

6. In addition he seems to appreciate that not being on a restriction order is not the same thing as not having input from a psychiatric team. He is someone who should have ongoing indefinite input because there is an element of vulnerability and he could have the sort of difficulties in the future that he has had since he left hospital; in 1999.’

15.
We accept all of Dr Boast’s analysis of [RH’s] position but do not share his conclusions. We agree that [RH] is ‘relatively unlikely to seriously offend again’ but we cannot conclude from that that it is not appropriate for him to be liable to recall. We agree also that he continues to have vulnerabilities that may well entail the necessity of psychiatric intervention and, we would say, possible recall.

15.
We have considered all the evidence before us very carefully and are satisfied that although, with his present level of support under his conditional discharge, [RH’s] condition is stable, it can, at most, be said, as Dr Boast states, that ‘he is relatively unlikely to seriously offend again’. We bear in mind the index offences and the circumstances that led to his recall in 1997 as set out at Para 7 above. He is a man with continuing vulnerabilities.

16.
Our conclusion is that there remains a real risk to the public and to [RH] from his mental disorder with an attendant risk of his recall to hospital.

17.
We consider that the present conditions (modified earlier this year by the tribunal in its decision of 27 May 2008), meet any such risk admirably and with those conditions in place such risk is minimised. We conclude that it is desirable to continue the present conditions and that is our order.”

The F-tT directed that its decision together with that of the tribunal dated 20 May 2008 be put before any future tribunal.

The UT’s decision

14. Permission to appeal to the UT was granted on 31 December 2008. There were only three grounds of appeal, as summarised by Professor Jeremy Cooper when granting permission to appeal: 

“i.
The tribunal unlawfully failed to give adequate reasons for its decision.

ii. The tribunal acted irrationally by failing to deal adequately or at all with the medical and social work evidence.

iii. The tribunal erred in law by conflating his need for ongoing support and psychiatric treatment, with the question should the restriction order continue.”

15. There was no suggestion that Munby J’s formulation of the “key question” in [59] of SC ([12] above) was wrong, and no suggestion that there had been any interference with the appellant’s rights under Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights (the Convention). Although there were three grounds of appeal to the UT the appeal was, in effect, a straightforward challenge to the adequacy of the F-tT’s reasoning. As the UT said in [7] of its decision:

“7. Although three numbered grounds of appeal are advanced, there are really only two, because, as Mr Dunlop, who appeared on behalf of the appellant, accepted, the second numbered ground (irrational failure to deal adequately or at all with the medical and social work evidence) is merely an aspect of the first (inadequate reasons). Even the third numbered ground (conflation of two issues that should have been kept separate) is related to the tribunal’s reasoning.”

16. Having set out the evidence before the F-tT, including paragraph 7 of Dr Boast’s report in which he had said:

“7. Thus on balance [the appellant] should no longer be liable to recall but can be dealt with as an ordinary psychiatric patient”

the UT concluded that the F-tT’s reasoning was not inadequate:

“17. Against that background, it seems to me that the reasons given by the First-tier Tribunal fully explain why it reached the decision that it did. It did not disagree with any of the assessments of the appellant’s mental health or of the likelihood of him ceasing to engage with the mental health team or re-offending. That is an important distinction between this case and Clatworthy. Here, the First-tier Tribunal merely disagreed as to the conclusion to be drawn from the assessments when it came to considering whether the restriction order should cease to have effect. That was the kind of judgment for which it is difficult to give reasons beyond those required to show that the tribunal has directed itself correctly as to the law and to show to what matters the tribunal has had regard. I am satisfied that the reasons given by the First-tier Tribunal in those respects were adequate. Indeed, if one looks just at the issue of whether it was necessary for the restriction order to continue in the light of the assessment of the appellant’s current mental health, as opposed to whether it was possible to manage him in the community, the reasoning in the reports is no more detailed than that of the First-tier Tribunal and arguably less so save in the case of Dr Boast.”
17. That conclusion was sufficient to dispose of the reasons challenge to the F-tT’s decision. However, the UT went on to consider SC and in the course of doing so said:

“23.
It is important to note that Munby J. also said that regard had to be had to the gravity of the index offence and, indeed, in assessing ‘the risk and likelihood of the patient re-offending, the degree of harm to which the public may be exposed if he re-offends’, it would appear that regard should also be had to the gravity of other past offences since section 41(1) makes it clear that a person’s antecedents are relevant to whether a restriction order should be imposed in the first place.

24. 
The gravity of past offences is partly relevant because, as Dr Boast acknowledged, the seriousness of past offending may be a guide to the possible seriousness of any future offending and because, as with any assessment of a risk of serious harm, one must have regard both to the likelihood of the harm occurring and to the seriousness of the harm that might occur if the risk materialises. The more serious the harm that might occur if the risk materialises, the more one needs to guard against even a relatively low chance of its occurrence.

25.
The gravity of past offences is also relevant because, where an offence is serious enough to be punishable by a sentence of life imprisonment, Parliament has given a particularly powerful indication that a long-term view of risks must be taken. Such a sentence does not usually have the effect that the offender remains in prison for the rest of his life but it does have the effect that after his release he remains on licence, and therefore subject to possible recall to prison, for the rest of his life. It would be surprising if a different approach were required to be taken to the assessment of risk where a hospital order has been imposed on a person convicted of such a serious offence and the question for the court is whether a restriction order should also be imposed or the question for a tribunal is whether a restriction order should cease to have effect.

26. 
It seems to me that this provides an answer to Dr Boast’s concern that ‘[i]f … the standard is to have no evidence of the mental disorder for which a hospital order was made, then it would be only the very occasional patient in full prolonged remission who could achieve an absolute discharge’. As I have mentioned, evidence of current mental disorder is not actually required in all cases. Nonetheless, I would accept that the mere existence of current, or possible future, mental disorder is not enough to justify the continuation of a restriction order. The First-tier Tribunal must also have regard to the seriousness of any risk of harm to others.

27. 
However, manslaughter may, and murder must, be punished by a sentence of life imprisonment. It therefore cannot be regarded as surprising that a restriction order imposed in a case of manslaughter arising out of a deliberate killing – in this case, two deliberate killings – should remain in force for as long as that person continues to be subject to what the First-Tier Tribunal here called ‘vulnerabilities’, even if that has the effect that, in some cases, it will remain in force for life. In this case, the First-tier Tribunal regarded the risk of harm to others to be sufficiently serious to justify the continuation of the restriction order. Reading its decision as a whole against the background of the evidence before it and a proper understanding of the law, there can be no doubt as to why it reached that conclusion or that the decision was one it was entitled to reach. Accordingly, I dismiss this appeal.”

Permission to appeal

18. The appellant asked the UT for permission to appeal to this Court. The appeal grounds drafted by Miss Davidson, who had not appeared before either the F-tT or the UT, contended, for the first time, that there had been a breach of Article 8 of the Convention. Ground (c) said:

“(c) the decision was heavily reliant upon R v Mental Health Review Tribunal and the Secretary of State for Health, ex parte SC [2005] MHLR 31, which was wrongly decided in respect of section 75(3) of the Mental Health Act 1983 because it is contrary to the European Convention on Human Rights for the burden of proof under the Act to be on a psychiatric patient;”

19. The original reasons challenge had expanded into no less than eight grounds of appeal, including, as grounds (g) and (h):

“(g)
a conditionally discharged patient seeking an order under section 75(3) is not equivalent to and should not be compared to a lifer prisoner on licence;

(h) 
it was contrary unfair, unlawful, and contrary to the entire scheme of section 73 and section 75 of the Mental Health Act 1983 to

(i) find that a restriction order should remain in place essentially for life;

(ii) direct that the decision under scrutiny should be placed before any future tribunal.”

20. The UT granted permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal, observing:

“I grant the appellant permission to appeal from my decision dated 8 February 2010. Grounds (c) and (g) of the appeal grounds raise important points of principle and the other grounds are related. However, in relation to ground (c) it should not be thought that I consider it arguable that the burden of proof – if that is the right term in a substantially inquisitorial jurisdiction – was misplaced to the disadvantage of the appellant in the present case.”

The appellant’s grounds

21. In the appellant’s skeleton argument the grounds of appeal were reformulated as follows:

“(a) R v Mental Health Review Tribunal and the Secretary of State for Health, ex parte SC [2005] EWHC 17 (Admin), [2005] MHLR 31 was wrongly decided in respect of s75(3) of the MHA because it is contrary to the European Convention on Human Rights for the burden of proof to be on the patient;

(b) the reasons provided by the First-tier Tribunal were inadequate, and/or perverse, and/or irrational, and/or were not informed by the Convention principles of necessity and/or proportionality;

(c) the need for cogent reasons where professional opinion was rejected was not vitiated by the fact that the judgement on the need for continued liability to recall was a difficult one;

(d) a conditionally discharged patient seeking an order under s75(3) cannot be compared to a lifer prisoner on licence;

(e) the finding that a restriction order should remain in place essentially for life was contrary to the entire scheme of s73 and s75 of the MHA;

(f) there was no evidence that

(i) the risk of harm was sufficiently serious to justify the continuation of the conditions;

(ii) the expert opinion on risk only related to the short-term;

(g) decisions of First-tier Tribunals were not binding, and the direction that the decision under scrutiny should be placed before all future tribunals was unlawful and could result in the appellant being subjected to the restriction order for life;

(h) failed to give sufficient weight to the clinical opinion;

(i) failed to respond proportionately to the risk of deterioration and/or likely harm if the appellant was no longer liable to recall.”

22. Ground (i) was not pursued because it was recognised that it was covered by ground (f)(i), and during the course of her oral submissions Miss Davidson said that ground (c) was, in effect, subsumed within the reasons challenge under ground (b). She confirmed that there was no separate challenge on the ground of perversity. The F-tT could rationally conclude that the appellant should continue to be liable to recall, but it had to give cogent reasons for reaching that conclusion and for rejecting the unanimous view to the contrary expressed by the professional witnesses in their oral and written evidence before the F-tT.

Discussion

23. Ground (a) was founded on the submission that Munby J. erred in his formulation of the question to be asked by the F-tT under section 75(3) – is it satisfied that it is not appropriate for the patient to remain liable to be recalled to hospital for further treatment – because he failed to apply the reasoning in R v Mental Health Review Tribunal, North and East London Region and the Secretary of State for Health ex parte H [2001] EWCA Civ 415; (2002) QB 1.

24. In ex parte H the Court of Appeal held that the test in the form in which it was then enacted in section 72 of the Act, as applied by section 73 to restricted patients, was incompatible with Article 5(1) and (4) of the Convention because the patient would not be discharged unless the tribunal was satisfied that he was not suffering from a mental condition which made it appropriate for him to be liable to be detained ([28]–[31]). In effect, the burden of proof was placed on the patient to persuade the tribunal that he should not be detained, when it was for the authorities to justify his continued detention ([24]). In response to the judgment in ex parte H sections 72 and 73 were amended so as to require the tribunal to discharge the patient if they are not satisfied that he is suffering from a mental condition which makes it appropriate for him to be liable to be detained: see [8] and [9] (above) for the relevant parts of the amended sections 72 and 73.

25. As Mr Greatorex pointed out in his skeleton argument on behalf of the second respondent, the short answer to the appellant’s submission based on ex parte H is that this is not an Article 5 case. Article 5 will be engaged if the appellant is recalled, and the procedures dealing with his recall will have to be Article 5 compliant, but Article 5 will not be engaged unless and until he is recalled.

26. Miss Davidson accepted that Article 5 was not engaged, but submitted that the “burden of proof analogy” was applicable to the appellant’s Article 8 rights. The difficulty with that submission is that since Article 8 was not even referred to, much less relied upon, before the F-tT and the UT, it is first necessary to ascertain the nature of the interference about which complaint is made. Consideration can then be given to the question whether that particular interference is justified.

27. For present purposes, I would accept that conditions imposed on a conditional discharge are capable of amounting to an interference with a patient’s private life for the purposes of Article 8.1 (family life is not in issue in this case). Some conditions in a conditional discharge might be very burdensome. However, in the present case the bone of contention was the appellant’s liability to recall. If liability to recall was not justified he would be absolutely discharged and the conditions would cease to have effect; but if liability to recall was justified the appellant was not complaining about the conditions in his conditional discharge (see [3] above). As the F-tT found, he was “well supported by the present arrangements”: see paragraph 13 of its decision ([13] above). Indeed it was the appellant’s case that liability to recall was unnecessary because he could be relied upon to voluntarily comply with the requirements in the conditions. 

28. Assuming that the appellant’s liability to recall was an interference with his private life, was that interference in accordance with the law and necessary for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others under Article 8.2? Unlike a patient who has been compulsorily detained under Part II of the Act and is seeking discharge under section 72, a patient such as the appellant who is applying under section 75(3) for a direction that a restriction order should cease to have effect will have been made the subject of that order – rendering him liable to continued detention until absolute discharge under section 75 – by a competent court after a criminal trial: see section 41 of the Act ([6] and [7] above). Where a patient is subject to such an order made by a Court it is neither unfair, nor in any way disproportionate or unnecessary to require him to satisfy the F-tT that the order should cease to have effect: ie that it is not appropriate for him to remain liable to be recalled.

29. The importance of the “burden of proof” argument in this context should not be overstated. As Lord Phillips MR said when giving the judgment of the Court in ex parte H, this description of the point is a “useful shorthand” ([24]). When considering applications under section 75(3) the F-tT “is not … concerned with finding facts which are capable of exact demonstration, but rather with a process of judgment, evaluation and assessment”: see R (N) v Mental Health Review Tribunal (Northern Region) [2005] EWCA Civ.1605, per Richards LJ giving the judgment of the Court at [98]. In that case the Court was considering the standard, rather than the burden, of proof, but its observations in [99] are no less applicable to the latter: 

“Accordingly, as it seems to us, the standard of proof has a potential part to play in the decision-making process even in relation to issues that are the subject of judgment and evaluation. In practice, we would expect the tribunal generally either to form the requisite judgment or not to form it, without needing to have specific regard to any standard of proof. But the standard of proof provides a backdrop to the decision-making process and may have an important role in some cases.”

30. I turn to the remaining grounds of appeal. Although the point is put in a number of different ways, the essential complaint is the contention in ground (b) that the reasons provided by the F-tT were inadequate. Ground (i) is not pursued. It is accepted that ground (c) is an aspect of ground (b). Grounds (f) and (h) add nothing to the reasons challenge in ground (b). It was for the F-tT to decide what weight they should give to the conclusion of the professionally qualified witnesses that liability to recall was no longer necessary in the circumstances which they described, and which the F-tT accepted. The appellant accepts that the F-tT was entitled to disagree with the conclusion of the expert witnesses provided it gave cogent reasons for doing so. The only question for the purposes of ground (b) is whether it did so.

31. I have no doubt that for the reasons given by the UT the answer to that question is “yes”. There was no dispute that the appellant continued to suffer from mental disorder, had been recalled in 1997, and was still in need of psychiatric and other support. The only issue was whether he should continue to be liable to recall, or whether he could be dealt with as an ordinary psychiatric patient. Dr Boast concluded that “on balance” the appellant could be dealt with as an ordinary psychiatric patient (see [16] above). The F-tT was entitled to disagree with that conclusion for the reasons it gave in the second paragraph 15 of its decision. Bearing in mind (a) the gravity of the index offences; (b) the circumstances leading to the appellant’s recall in 1997; and (c) the fact that he was someone who still suffered from a mental disorder requiring psychiatric support (“a man with continuing vulnerabilities”), the fact that it could, at most, be said that he was “relatively unlikely to seriously offend again” (emphasis added) was not sufficient to persuade the F-tT that there was no longer “a real risk to the public” with “an attendant risk” of recall. The F-tT’s decision is readily intelligible and, in my judgment, not in the least surprising.

32. Nor is it surprising that the F-tT did not expressly address the Convention principles of necessity or proportionality, since Article 8 was not referred to at the hearing. Miss Davidson submitted that the F-tT had merely concluded in paragraph 17 of its decision that the conditions in the appellant’s conditional discharge were “desirable”, not that they were necessary (see [13] above). That submission plucks one word in the F-tT’s decision out of context. The decision must be read as a whole, and it must be remembered that the conditions were not in issue if liability to recall was to continue. The question was whether liability to recall was no longer appropriate, and the F-tT said in terms in paragraph 9 of its decision that it was not satisfied that it was no longer appropriate for the appellant to remain liable to recall. Agreeing with Dr Boast’s view that the appellant’s continued “vulnerabilities” “may well entail the necessity of psychiatric intervention”, the F-tT added “and, we would say, possible recall” (see the first paragraph of the F-tT’s decision, [13] above).

33. I can deal very briefly with the remaining grounds. Ground (e) is based on a misunderstanding of the UT’s decision. In her skeleton argument Miss Davidson submitted that the “the UT’s finding that the appellant’s restriction order should remain in place essentially for life” was contrary to the entire scheme of sections 73 and 75 of the Act. The UT did not make any such finding: see [27] of its decision ([17] above). The UT merely observed that it was not surprising that a restriction order imposed on a patient who had been convicted of two deliberate killings should remain in force for so long as that person was suffering from a mental disorder and needing psychiatric and other support (what the F-tT referred to as “vulnerabilities”) even if that had the effect that in some cases the restriction order would remain in force for life. There is no legal error in that proposition.

34. Ground (d) is also based on a misunderstanding of the UT’s decision, and a consideration of [27] of its decision in isolation. The UT was not equating patients subject to conditional discharge with life sentence prisoners generally. It was explaining why the gravity of the index offences was a relevant consideration ([23]–[25]), and responding to Dr Boast’s concern that if the standard [for cessation of liability to recall] was to have no evidence of mental disorder, only the very occasional patient in full prolonged remission would be able to gain an absolute discharge ([26]). It was in that context that the UT referred to the fact that manslaughter may, and murder must, be punished by a sentence of life imprisonment, which meant that the prisoner was subject to possible recall to prison for life, and compared that position, not with the position of any prisoner subject to a restriction order, but with the position of the appellant who had been convicted of two deliberate killings. The comparison was made, not for the purpose of equating a life sentence with a restriction order, but to answer Dr Boast’s concern that it might be very difficult for most patients ever to achieve an absolute discharge. The UT pointed out, correctly, that a continuing mental disorder is not enough, of itself, to justify the continuation of a restriction order. “The [F-tT] must also have regard to the seriousness of any risk of harm to others.” Hence the relevance of the index offence for the purposes of section 75(3), and the relevance of this appellant’s index offences for the purpose of the F-tT’s assessment of risk.

35. Ground (g) is misconceived. If the F-tT’s decision had been quashed because it was found to be defective on any of the other grounds, then the direction would have fallen with the decision. If, on the other hand, the decision is a lawful decision, it would seem to be eminently sensible that it is placed before any future F-tT considering the appellant’s case. While earlier F‑tT decisions are not binding, and any F-tT considering the appellant’s case in the future will be looking at the facts and circumstances as they exist at the time, there can be no doubt that earlier decisions are material considerations. The weight to be given to this F-tT’s decision will be a matter for any F-tT which considers the appellant’s case in the future.

Conclusions

36. For these reasons I would dismiss this appeal. This is a second appeal, and permission to appeal should not be granted for such appeals unless the UT or the Court of Appeal is satisfied that the appeal raises an important point of principle or practice, or there is some other compelling reason for this Court to consider the appeal. It is not suggested that there was any other compelling reason in the present case. If the UT does consider it appropriate to grant permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal because it is satisfied that one or more of the grounds of appeal raises an important point of principle or practice, it should carefully consider whether the grant of permission should be limited to that ground or grounds. Although the UT considered that the other grounds were related to (reformulated) grounds (a) and (d), which raised important points of principle, on their face most of those other grounds added nothing of substance to the submission in ground (b): that the reasons provided by the F-tT were inadequate. That submission turned entirely on the particular facts of this case, and on those facts it had no real prospect of success for the reasons given in [17] of the UT’s decision. Grounds (d) and (e) were based on a misunderstanding of an aspect of the UT’s reasoning which in any event was not essential to its decision; and ground (g) was simply misconceived. Whether or not permission to appeal should have been granted on (reformulated) ground (a), I am firmly of the view that the UT should not have granted permission to appeal on the remaining grounds, none of which had any real prospect of success, and, with the exception of ground (d) which was plainly based on a misunderstanding of the UT’s own decision, did not raise any issue of principle.

37. Particular care should be exercised before granting permission to appeal on a ground that was not raised below. Ground (a) was not argued before either the F-tT or the UT, so the UT did not know whether the respondents, and in particular the second respondent, had an answer to it. The UT commented on “the failure of the respondents to engage with the Upper Tribunal in this appeal”, but the lack of engagement in this particular case is, perhaps, unsurprising given that, on the face of the grounds of appeal to the UT, this was a straightforward challenge to the adequacy of the reasoning in the F-tT’s decision, which either would, or would not, speak for itself. However, if exceptionally in view of the fact that a wholly new issue of principle was being raised after its decision, the UT had asked the respondents whether they had any submissions to make as to whether permission to appeal should be granted on ground (a), it seems likely that the second respondent (the first respondent remained neutral in the appeal to this Court) would have explained why the reasoning in ex parte H was not applicable ([25]–[28] above). Had the UT been provided with that explanation it is most unlikely that permission to appeal would have been granted. It is most unfortunate that a response to ground (a) was not elicited by the UT at an earlier stage, before much expense was incurred in considering the issue in this Court. 

LORD JUSTICE MOSES:
38. I agree.

LORD JUSTICE SEDLEY: 

39. I agree with the entirety of the judgment of Lord Justice Sullivan. 

40. I would add, in regard to the granting by the Upper Tribunal of permission to appeal to this court, that I am not convinced that even the principal point which Ms Davidson has argued, albeit with clarity and tenacity, should have secured permission either from the UT or from this court. Assuming in the claimant’s favour that there is a formal onus on the State under Article 8(2) to justify a conditional discharge which restricts an offender’s private life, that onus seems to me manifestly discharged by the simple facts of the conviction and its surrounding and sequent circumstances. No tribunal, knowing of these, could properly regard the claimant as starting with a clean sheet. 

41. Where, as here, the facts are not capable of bringing the case home, it will not be common for permission to be given to bring a second appeal on a point of principle or practice, however theoretically important.
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